Agenda - Standards of Conduct Committee

Meeting Venue: For further information contact:

Hybrid: Committee Room 1 and Video Meriel Singleton

Conference via Zoom Committee Clerk
Meeting date: 25 November 2024 0300 200 6565
Meeting time: 09.15 SeneddStandards@senedd.wales

Pre-meeting
(9.00 - 9.15)

1 Introductions, apologies and substitutions

2 Inquiry into Individual Member Accountability: Evidence Session
17
(9.15-10.30) (Pages 1 - 16)

Azzurra Moores, Policy Lead, Full Fact.
Rose Whiffen, Senior Research Officer, Transparency International UK.

Juliet Swann, Nations and Regions Programme Manager, Transparency

International UK.

Tom Brake, Director, Unlock Democracy.

3 Inquiry into Individual Member Accountability: Evidence Session

18
(10.40 - 11.30)

Chief Constable Amanda Blakeman.

4 Inquiry into Individual Member Accountability: Evidence Session

19
(11.35-12.30)

’F‘f// Senedd Cymru

Welsh Parliament



Jennifer Nadel, Compassion in Politics.

Sam Fowles, Cornerstone Barristers.

Papers to note

(Pages 17 - 62)
Written Submission from Criminal Bar Association

Consultation response - Reform Political Advertising

Written Submission - Hank Linderman

Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the

public from the remainder of the meeting

Consideration of the Evidence



By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42 Ag e n d a Ite m 2

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1



Agenda ltem 5

Briefing Note re Evidence to be provided on 18 November 2024 to the

Senedd Members Standards of Conduct Committee Inquiry

into Members’ Accountability

This paper is prepared on behalf of the Criminal Bar Association of England and Wales, by
Jonathan Elystan Rees KC, Owen Edwards KC and Alexander Greenwood, the Welsh
Representatives on the Criminal Bar Association Executive Committee (‘the authors’). Mr Rees
KC, Mr Edwards KC and Mr Greenwood are criminal practitioners based at chambers in Wales

and Chester, practice primarily in the courts in Wales and are registered voters within Wales.

1. The authors have drafted this note in response to the proposal made by the Institute
for Constitutional Democratic Research (‘ICDR’) in the document entitled, “A Model
for Political Honesty: A White Paper proposing legislation for the disqualification of
politicians who are found guilty of deliberate deception by an independent judicial

process” (“White Paper”).

2. In the Executive Summary of the White Paper it is stated that:
The Welsh Government has publicly undertaken to introduce a new law whereby:

Politicians or candidates who are found guilty of deliberate deception by an

independent judicial process will be disqualified from office.

1
Pack Page 17



The proposal in the White Paper does not meet that objective, but instead provides for
a model whereby a politician or candidate may be disqualified from office without any

explicit finding of deliberate deception.

The stated threshold of a finding of deliberate deception is necessarily and properly a
high threshold, to which the protection of the burden of proof falling upon the

claimant to establish the deliberate deception should apply.

Similarly, the claimant should bear the burden of establishing that there has been a

deliberate deception to the highest standard of proof.

It is clear from the publicly stated intention of the Welsh Government above, using the
language of “guilt” and “deliberate deception”, that the Welsh Government recognises
the criminal nature of the issue at stake for the parties. Where the criminal law is
engaged, the standard should be that the tribunal of fact is nothing less than sure that

there has been a deliberate deception on the part of the politician or candidate.

A failure to make a correction, following a previous finding that on the balance of
probabilities that the politician or candidate has failed to establish that the statement
was true, does not amount to a finding by the tribunal of fact that it is sure that the
politician or candidate is guilty of deliberate deception. It is itself misleading to equate

the two.

2
Pack Page 18



8. Even where the standard of proof is stated to be a balance of probabilities, such as in
civil disciplinary procedures, the courts have made it clear that in appropriate cases,
“the more serious the allegation the less likely it is that the event occurred and, hence,
the stronger should be the evidence before the court concludes that the allegation is
established on the balance of probability”!. The allegation of a deliberate deception on
the part of a politician or candidate is a serious allegation. However, the procedure
proposed in the White Paper does not require any evidence that the politician or

candidate has used a deliberate deception.

9. A procedure whereby a failure to make a correction may lead to disqualification from
office, following a previous finding that on the balance of probabilities that the
politician or candidate has failed to establish that the statement was true, does not
amount to a procedure which recognises that the allegation of a deliberate deception
on the part of a politician or candidate is a serious allegation, and hence the stronger
should be the evidence before any court concludes that the allegation is established.
Instead it is itself a device to avoid the implications of B (Children), Re [2008] UKHL

35, [2008] 4 All ER 1,[2009] 1 AC 11 and the protections for those facing serious

allegations of misconduct.

10. The criminal law has long recognised that a “lie” is a deliberate untruth: i.e. it does not

arise from confusion or mistake2.

1 B (Children), Re [2008] UKHL 35, [2008] 4 All ER 1, [2009] 1 AC 11 at paragraph
2 Lucas (1981) 73 Cr App R 159, CA

3
Pack Page 19


https://plus.lexis.com/uk/analytical-materials-uk/the-civil-standard-explained?&crid=8796c4e7-6486-46e9-a65d-4bfe0f740e5e&pddocumentnumber=2&ecomp=5t5k&earg=sr1&prid=351fe7c2-1bad-4c47-a85b-8d095adcb877&rqs=1
https://plus.lexis.com/uk/analytical-materials-uk/the-civil-standard-explained?&crid=8796c4e7-6486-46e9-a65d-4bfe0f740e5e&pddocumentnumber=2&ecomp=5t5k&earg=sr1&prid=351fe7c2-1bad-4c47-a85b-8d095adcb877&rqs=1
https://plus.lexis.com/uk/analytical-materials-uk/the-civil-standard-explained?&crid=8796c4e7-6486-46e9-a65d-4bfe0f740e5e&pddocumentnumber=2&ecomp=5t5k&earg=sr1&prid=351fe7c2-1bad-4c47-a85b-8d095adcb877&rqs=1
https://iclr.co.uk/pubrefLookup/redirectTo?ref=2009+1+AC+11
https://plus.lexis.com/uk/analytical-materials-uk/the-civil-standard-explained?&crid=8796c4e7-6486-46e9-a65d-4bfe0f740e5e&pddocumentnumber=2&ecomp=5t5k&earg=sr1&prid=351fe7c2-1bad-4c47-a85b-8d095adcb877&rqs=1
https://plus.lexis.com/uk/analytical-materials-uk/the-civil-standard-explained?&crid=8796c4e7-6486-46e9-a65d-4bfe0f740e5e&pddocumentnumber=2&ecomp=5t5k&earg=sr1&prid=351fe7c2-1bad-4c47-a85b-8d095adcb877&rqs=1
https://iclr.co.uk/pubrefLookup/redirectTo?ref=2009+1+AC+11

11. The intention of the Welsh Government that only those “Politicians or candidates who
are found guilty of deliberate deception by an independent judicial process will be

disqualified from office” is consistent therewith.

12. It is, however, misleading to suggest as the White Paper does that a “lie” can be
established without proof of “intent to lie” (see paragraph 27 thereof). A lie is a

deliberate untruth.

13. It is also misleading to suggest that the model proposed in the White Paper is based
on existing regulatory law (see the Executive Summary thereof) and that
“implementing the proposed regime will, therefore, not require the courts to do

anything that they are not already experienced at doing” (see paragraph 24 thereof).

14. The examples given in the White Paper of analogous procedures are the use of
planning enforcement notices requiring the removal of unlawful buildings?,
temporary stop notices requiring a cessation in unlawful development*, abatement
notices requiring the recipient to cease committing a statutory nuisance’, and

community protection notices requiring cessation of anti-social behaviour®.

3 Town and Country Planning Act 1990, s.172 (‘"TCPA")

¢ Town and Country Planning Act 1990, s.171E

5 Environmental Protection Act 1990, s.80 (‘'EPA’)

¢ Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014. S5.43 ("ASBCPA")

4
Pack Page 20



15. They are not, in fact, analogous and do not support either the proposition that the
proposed model is based on existing regulatory law or that the proposed regime will

not require the courts to do anything that they are not already experienced at doing.

16. The issuing party in each of the above procedures is not the court on application by any
person. Instead the power to make such notices is reserved to bodies which have

particular expertise:

(a) Inthe case of planning enforcement notices, stop notices and abatement notices

Local authorities; and

(b) In the case of community protection notices, “authorised persons”, namely a
constable, or a person designated by the local authority for the purpose of

issuing community protection notices.

17. In contrast to any registered voter, such bodies are subject to statutory checks and
balances to ensure that there is an adequate evidential platform before they act and
that any such action is compliant with their statutory duties - in many instances that
means an assessment that the public interest test used by the Crown Prosecution

Service, and adopted by many other statutory agencies, is met”.

7 https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/code-crown-prosecutors

5
Pack Page 21



18. In stark contrast with the proposal from the ICDR, there is no reverse burden of proof
upon the potential subject of the notice in the above procedures under the TCPA, EPA

and ASBCPA:

(a) Under section 43 of the ASBCPA 2014, an authorised person may issue a
community protection notice only “if satisfied on reasonable grounds that — (a)
the conduct of the individual or body is having a detrimental effect, of a
persistent or continuing nature, on the quality of life of those in the locality,

and (b) the conduct is unreasonable”;

(b) Under section 80(1) of the EPA 1990, the local authority shall serve an
abatement notice only if satisfied that a statutory nuisance exists, or is likely to

occur or recur;

(c) Under section 171E of the TCPA 1990, the local authority may issue a
temporary stop notice only if it thinks that there has been a breach of planning
control in relation to any land and that it is expedient that the activity which

amounts to the breach is stopped immediately; and

(d) Under section 172 of the TCPA 1990, the local authority may issue an
enforcement notice only where it appears to them that there has been a breach

of planning control and that it is expedient to issue the notice.

6
Pack Page 22



19. The local authority in the examples in paragraph 16(c), (d) and (e) above must have
reasonable grounds before they can be satisfied/think that a nuisance/breach of

planning control has exists/has occurred.

20. Further a local authority as a creature of statute can only act when it is in the interests
of the inhabitants of their area.® Thereafter adequate evidence has to be obtained to
justify action in respect of criminal proceedings in accordance with their enforcement
code which almost universally adopt the Code for Crown Prosecutors test that there
must be a realistic prospect of a conviction and any prosecution must be in the public

interest.

21. These important safeguards act as a gateway to prohibit unmeritorious or vexatious

accusations ever reaching court, and ensure that the courts are not overly burdened.

22. Such decisions, thereafter, remain open to challenge in the High Court, and often are,
causing significant additional delay and costs. The White Paper proposals as to
proceedings in the Magistrates’” Courts would also be open to such challenges. The
authors have no confidence that the model proposed in the White Paper (‘the ICDR
Model’) will meet the stated intention of the White Paper that any new enforcement

regime must “provide swift resolution” (see paragraph 22 thereof).

8 5222 Local Government Act 1972

7
Pack Page 23



23. If the above procedures under the TCPA, the EPA and the ASBCPA operated on the
model proposed by the ICDR, it would fall on each potential subject of a notice to

prove on a balance of probabilities that:

(a) His/her conduct was not having a detrimental effect on the quality of life in the

locality, and that his/her conduct was reasonable; or that

(b) a statutory nuisance did not exist/not likely to occur or recur; or that

(c) that there had been no breach of planning control;

or otherwise be made subject to a behaviour notice.

24. None of the above examples employ the IDRC Model gateway threshold of “real
possibility”. The term “real possibility” is not a recognised legal term of art. Contrary
to the misleading impression given in the White Paper at paragraph 24, the “real
possibility” test is a “building block” of the proposed regime which is not an existing
legal concept®. It is unclear to the authors of this paper what is meant by a “real

possibility”, other than it being something other than impossibility.

? It does not feature, for example, in Jowitt’s Dictionary of English Law, Stroud’s Judicial Dictionary of Words
and Phrases, or Osborn’s Concise Law Dictionary

8
Pack Page 24



25.

26.

27.

28.

None of the above examples (under the TCPA, the EPA or the ASBCPA) employ the
IDRC Model of a “leave” stage of review by a District Judge or Deputy District Judge
within 24 hours of the application being issued (to filter out applications which are

“vexatious” or have “no real prospect of success”).

Leaving aside for the moment the huge resource implications for the Magistrates’
Courts of requiring District Judges and Deputy District Judges to be available to
review applications open to any registered voter within 24 hours, the introduction of
a “leave” stage prior to an application in the Magistrates” Courts is a further novel
mechanism, to which District and Deputy District Judges will have no familiarity
(unlike High Court Judges, who deal with applications for judicial review in the High
Court or applications for leave to appeal conviction and/or sentence in the Court of

Appeal Criminal Division).

Further, within a model where a successful application does not have to prove
anything, it is difficult to envisage an application for a correction notice which may be
said to have no real prospect of success (other than an application where it can be said

that it is impossible that the statement is false).

The initiation of criminal matters in the Magistrates” Courts is presently governed by
the Criminal Procedure Rules (“CrimPRs”) 2020 as amended. The requirements to
apply for a warrant, summons or requisition are stringent and necessitate setting out
full details of the conduct which comprises the commission of the offence, the

legislation under which the application is made and compliance with any statutory

9
Pack Page 25



29.

30.

31.

time limits on proceedings. It is anticipated any new procedure would require

amendment to the CrimPRs.

Importantly, the CrimPRs require the applicant seeking to commence proceedings in
the Magistrates” Courts to disclose to the court all the information that is material to what
the court must decide (recognising that the first step of proceedings takes place without

the participant of the potential subject of proceedings).

In the case of false statements, this rule should require the applicant seeking to
commence proceedings to disclose at the earliest stage all known material which may have
a bearing upon the question of truth or falsity. It is a rule which exists to ensure fairness to
the party who may potentially be made subject of proceedings, and should not be
avoided by device. It is a rule which the authors believe would quite properly create a
huge resource burden on both applicants and the courts, in seeking to resolve
allegations that politicians/candidates have made statements which are said to be

objectively untrue.

Questions over compliance or otherwise by an applicant seeking to commence
proceedings in the Magistrates” Courts with what is known as the “duty of candour”
has led, in other fields, to complex proceedings in the High Court. The authors state
again that they have no confidence that the model proposed in the White Paper (‘the
ICDR Model’) will meet the stated intention of the White Paper that any new

enforcement regime must “provide swift resolution” (see paragraph 22 thereof).

10
Pack Page 26



32.

33.

34.

The resource implications for the Magistrates” Courts in dealing with applications
under the ICDR Model are potentially huge. The White Paper does not suggest that
any research has been conducted into the likely volume of applications which may be
anticipated. It is easy to envisage coordinated complaints in which registered voters
in different areas of Wales make applications based upon the same or similar
comments by a politician. There appears to be no filter envisaged by the scheme which

would allow for this likely scenario.

In England and Wales there is a backlog of over 382,972 cases in the Magistrates’
Courts alone, with too few magistrates (13,340 rather than 17,000), too few court legal
advisors, and with criminal solicitors leaving the profession in droves. The most recent
survey of the Magistrates” Courts in April 2024 portrayed overworked and over-
burdened Crown Prosecutors and Criminal Solicitors. This scheme would require
district judges and deputy district judges to devote time to filtering out applications
rather than address the backlog. The pressures on Magistrates” Courts are expected to
increase rather than diminish because of plans to increase their remit and sentencing
powers. The Magistrates” Courts backlogin Wales in the final quarter of 2023
amounted to 17,480 cases, the highest since modern records began in 2012. The backlog
in Wales increased by over 16.6 percent in that year twice the rate of increase in

England.

The suggestion of an appeal to the Crown Court strictly limited to points of law no

doubt envisages relatively few such appeals. As the body of this report makes clear

11
Pack Page 27



35.

36.

37.

we feel that there would be a plethora of legal issues to consider if this legislation was
passed. The Crown Courts have no spare capacity to deal with such issues and

certainly would not be in a position to deal with appeals speedily.

Each month, the number of new cases reaching the Crown Court outweighs the
number of cases which are dealt with. That means that the backlog of 67,573 Crown
Court cases at the end of 2023 is not reducing. That backlog represents a 23 year high
from a record low of 32935 in 2018. On current projections the backlog is expected to

increase to 80,000 driven in part by reduced court sittings planned for this year.

In Wales the Crown Court backlog at 31 December 2023 was 2,595 up 20 percent in

one year and nearly twice the 2018 level.

Over a quarter of criminal cases which have been sent to the Crown Court now wait
for a year or more to be heard, prolonging distress for every participant in every trial.
There are an increasing number of cases, 6,523, where people have been waiting over
two years for a trial. As Sam Townend KC, Chair of the Bar Council has repeatedly
said, “Our call for sufficient resources is set against the backdrop of a 22.4% decrease
in public spending on the justice system under the last Government in real per person
terms taking account of inflation, with the cut most acutely felt in legal aid — the

spending on barristers is reduced by over 39%.”

12
Pack Page 28



38.

39.

40.

The criminal law already caters for politicians who deliberately lie, where their
conduct is sufficiently serious and where the politician was discharging the duties of

a public office (such as a Member of the Senedd) at the time.

The common law offence of misconduct in public office (‘MIPO’) penalises conduct

where the following four elements are present!®:

(a) A public officer acting as such
(b) Wilfully neglects to perform his duty and/or wilfully misconducts himself
(c) To such a degree as to amount to an abuse of the public’s trust in the office

holder,

(d) Without reasonable excuse or justification.

The need for the impugned conduct to be of such a degree as to amount to an abuse of
the public’s trust in the office holder requires an assessment to be made of the
seriousness of the conduct, and in particular, whether the conduct is so serious that
the jury should decide that it amounts to a crime. This is a high threshold, as the Court

of Appeal Criminal Division has recently observed!!.

10 Mohammed Adnan Ali v Rex [2023] EWCA Crim 1464 at paragraph 21
11 Mohammed Adnan Ali v Rex [2023] EWCA Crim 1464 at paragraph 25

13
Pack Page 29



41. A failure to insist upon a high threshold would place a constraint upon the conduct of
public officers in the proper performance of their duties which would be contrary to

the public interest'2.

42. A decision to charge an individual under the MIPO provisions is taken at the very
highest level of the CPS after scrutiny by a senior lawyer. The offence is indictable only
and a person charged would be guaranteed a jury trial. By contrast, the White Paper
proposals envisage offences triable summarily only, albeit the consequences of a
conviction for dishonesty (“deliberate deception” by the standards of ordinary
reasonable people’® is dishonest) may well be profound including effective
disqualification from many professional occupations (not just from the political sphere

under any specific disqualification order).

43. It is correct that political campaigning has been held to fall outside the ambit of the
common law offence of misconduct in a public office (on the basis that the political
campaigner is not, when campaigning, discharging the duties of any public office that

they may concurrently hold).

44. 1t is also correct that the problem of false statements in the course of political
campaigning is not new. The UK Parliament has previously legislated to control

certain false campaign statements which are to considered illegal practices - for

12 Mohammed Adnan Ali v Rex [2023] EWCA Crim 1464 at paragraph 26, quoting with approval Pill L];
see also R (Johnson) v Westminster Magistrates” Court [2019] 2 Cr App R 30 at paragraph 24
13 Ivey v Genting Casinos (UK) Ltd (trading as Crockfords Club) [2018] 1 Cr App R 12 at paragraph 47

14
Pack Page 30



example, section 106(1) of the Representation of the People Act 1983 which makes it
an offence before or during an election for the purpose of affecting the return of any

candidate makes or publishes any false statement of fact.

45. Section 106(1) of the 1983 Act properly requires the prosecution to prove that the
impugned statement is false to the criminal standard of proof, and provides thereafter
for a defence where the defendant shows, on the balance of probabilities, that he had

reasonable grounds for believing and did believe, the statement to be true.

46. In the view of the authors of this note, any extension to the scope of the criminal law
in this area is fraught with peril, and certainly should not involve a wholesale change
in the approach of the criminal law to the making, and resolution of, allegations of

falsity, such as placing the burden of proof upon the politician to demonstrate truth.

47. As the Electoral Commission has recognised, political discourse requires campaigners
to debate the relative merits of the arguments and claims being made by those

campaigning for the opposing outcome:

“Even official data can and will be presented by campaigners in a way that
favours their argument — that is the nature of political campaigns. It will not
always be possible to establish the truth about campaign claims in an

independent truly objective sense.” 4

4 Quoted in R (Johnson) v Westminster Magistrates” Court [2019] 2 Cr App R 30 at paragraph 37

15
Pack Page 31



48.

49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

Legal argument is often of a similar character, containing disputed assertions of fact.

It will be clear from the above, that the authors are of the view that the White Paper is

misleading in a number of respects.

It is noted that the IDRC Report Working Group which produced and published the

White Paper includes a sitting Member of the Senedd.

It is an irony that under the IDRC Model, which does not require proof of an intent to
mislead, the said Member might well be required to prove in a court of law and on a
balance of probabilities that the statements made within the IDRC Report were true
(for example, that the “building blocks” of the IDRC Model are all existing legal
concepts and that implementing the proposed regime will, therefore, not require the

Magistrates” Courts to do anything that they are not already experienced at doing).

It will also be clear from the above that the authors suggest that such a procedure may

have a chilling effect on argument and be wholly inappropriate.

We are sympathetic with the aim of providing a more robust system of accountability
in the Senedd and are willing, with colleagues at the Bar in Wales, to advise and assist
in considering proposals for disciplinary procedures and mechanisms for Senedd

members.

16
Pack Page 32



54.

55.

56.

It is acknowledged that the Senedd has expressed the view that the current system
may offer insufficient available sanctions against members of the Senedd who engage
in misconduct including deliberate deception. There are many ways in which available
sanctions can be extended in accordance with the Nolan principles, for example, by
way of providing for the disqualification of elected Members through the process of

recall.

However, the stated aim of increasing trust in politics by penalising the making of
false statements by members and candidates will not in our view be met unless any

new regime meets the tests of fairness and practicability.

We believe further that great care should be exercised before creating a new criminal
offence. The criminal law should be used sparingly, in line with the overriding

objective to deal with all cases justly to acquit the innocent and convict the guilty.

JONATHAN ELYSTAN REES KC
OWEN EDWARDS KC

ALEXANDER GREENWOOD

17
Pack Page 33



1. Background

Purpose of the consultation

The Standards of Conduct Committee (the Committee) is undertaking an inquiry into
Individual Member accountability and the potential for it to be strengthened.

There are several ways that individual Members of the Senedd are held to account:

e Once elected, a Member is accountable to their constituents and ultimately, a
Member who stands for re-election is held to account by the public at each election.

e Members can be disqualified and removed during a Senedd term for specified
reasons including if convicted of a criminal offence and sentenced to a custodial
sentence of 12 months or more.

e Members are also expected to meet the standards of behaviour and rules set out in
the Senedd’s Code of Conduct, and may face sanctions for breaches of these rules.

e However, there is no provision the Senedd itself to recommend the removal of a
Member during the Senedd term.

This consultation is seeking views on potential options for improving the accountability of
Members, including in the following areas:

e The introduction of a mechanism for the recall of Members (some form of public
poll in the relevant areas between elections that gives electors an option to remove
a Member from the Senedd when a complaint of misconduct has been upheld);

e Reasons for which Members may be disqualified during a Senedd term;

e The merits of the introduction of an offence of deception;

e Increasing the available sanctions for breaches of the Code of Conduct.
Providing Written Evidence

The Committee would welcome your views on the questions posed in this consultation by
Friday 27 September 2024.

You may find it useful to read the consultation document ahead of completing the form.
(link)

The Senedd has two official languages, Welsh and English.

In line with the Senedd’s Official Languages Scheme
(https://senedd.wales/commission/senedd-commission-policy/official-languages/) the

Committee welcomes contributions in both or either of our official languages, and we ask

Pack Page 34



organisations that are subject to Welsh Language standards or schemes to respond in line
with their own obligations. Please inform the Committee when submitting responses if you
intend to provide a translation at a later date.

Please see guidance for those providing evidence for committees.
(https://senedd.wales/senedd-business/committees/getting-involved-with-committees/)

Disclosure of information

Please ensure that you have considered the Senedd'’s policy on disclosure of information
(https://senedd.wales/help/privacy/senedd-committee-privacy-notice/) before submitting
information to the Committee.

Drafting Template

A template is available for you to draft your responses should you wish to think about your
answers prior to submitting your response. All responses should be submitted via the
online consultation form and not be submitted via email.

HYPERLINK

Pack Page 35



2. Capacity

Are you submitting this resp
onse in a professional or a personal capacity *

|| Professiona

| | Personal

Pack Page 36



3A. About you

Before accepting material from individuals under 13 years old, we require authorisation from
the young person's parent or guardian, provided in the form of an e-mail to

Committees@senedd.wales from the young person's parent or guardian.

If you are responding in a personal capacity, your name will be published along with your
contribution, unless you:

e are under18yearsold; or
e ask for your contribution to be anonymised.

Your contact details will not be published.

Age
< lam under 13 years old
‘] am aged 13 to 17 (your name will not be published along with your contribution)
Y 'am aged 18 or over and wish my contribution to be anonymised.

1 lam aged 18 or over and happy for my name to be published with my contribution

Contact information *

Rae Burdon of Reform Political Advertising
Name

*

Full postcode

contactemnail NN

address .

Do you wish to receive email updates on the Inquiry's progress? *

| Yes, please

~ |No, thank you

Pack Page 37



To submit a bilingual response please complete a Welsh and English version of this
consultation.

In which language(s) are you submitting?

| _|lam submitting in Welsh only
| |lam submitting in English only

| |lam submitting in English and Welsh

Pack Page 38



Section 3B is only shown to those responding in a PROFESSIONAL capacity

3B. About you / your organisation

If you are submitting a response on behalf of an organisation or as a professional please enter
your details here

(or return to the previous page if you wish to submit in a personal capacity)

If you are responding on behalf of an organisation, we will publish the name of the organisation
but will not publish your name or contact details.

If you are responding in another professional capacity, we will publish your name and your job
title/role, if relevant. Your contact details will not be published.

As you are responding in a professional capacity, are you responding on behalf of an
organisation? *

Yes

No

Organisation

Reform Political Advertising

Please provide the information below: *

Name Rae Burdon

Role Director

e
Contact telephone number ||| Gz

Do you wish to receive email updates on the Inquiry's progress *

Yes, please

Pack Page 39



| INo, thankyou

In which language(s) are you submitting? *
| _|lam submitting in Welsh only
| |lam submitting in English only

| _|lam submitting in English and Welsh

To submit a bilingual response please complete a Welsh and English version of this
consultation.

Pack Page 40



4. Your opinion

To assist with our inquiry, the Committee would welcome your views on any or all of the
following points:

Some helpful things to be aware of before you start answering the consultation questions:

e You do not need to answer every question, only those on which you wish to share
information or have a view.

e Ifyou provide any information that you feel is not suitable for public disclosure, please
indicate which parts should not be published and give your reasons for this.

Recall

Recall mechanisms are the means by which an elected politician can be removed from office by
their constituents between elections.

The UK Parliament was the first legislature in the UK to introduce a system of recall for Members
of Parliament (MPs) in 2015. If certain conditions are met, voters in the relevant constituency
have six weeks to sign a “recall petition” if they wish for their MP to be removed from office. If at
least 10 per cent of eligible registered electors sign the petition, there will be a by-election in
that constituency via the First Past the Post (FPTP) electoral system. The recalled MP may stand
in the by-election.

From 2026, all Members of the Senedd will be elected via a closed list proportional
representation system. If a recall mechanism is to be adopted by the Senedd then it must be
designed in accordance with the new electoral system. Under the new arrangements, there is no
provision for a by-election in the event of a vacancy during a Senedd term; a vacant seat will be
filled by the next eligible and willing person on the list instead.

1. Should there be a power to remove a Member of the Senedd during a Senedd term when
a complaint of misconduct has been upheld?

Yes

No

| Don't have a view

Please outline your reasons for your answer (we would be grateful if you could keep your
answer to around 500 words)

Pack Page 41



We regard this issue as beyond our remit and beyond the terms under which we make this
and other submissions; see separate note on where we fit' in this particular exercise and in
the context of the relevant legal framework

The following questions in this section are based on the practical implications of recall, if you do
not think that a recall system should be introduced, you do not have to answer these questions.
Would you like to answer questions on the practical implications of recall:

Yes

No — please take me to the next section of questions

Triggers for a recall process

2. In the House of Commons recall system, an MP will be subject to recall if, following a
report from the Committee on Standards, the House of Comnmons orders the suspension of

the MP from the House for at least 10 sitting days or 14 calendar days.

What is your view on how long a period a Member of the Senedd should be suspended for
in order to trigger a recall process?

| |Fewer than 10 sitting days
|10 sitting days
| |More than 10 sitting days

Suspension should not trigger a recall process

| |Don't have a view

|__|Other (please specify)

Please outline your reasons for your answer (we would be grateful if you could keep your
answer to around 500 words)

3. In the House of Commons recall system, an MP will be subject to recall if, after becoming
an MP, they have been convicted of providing false or misleading information in support of
an expenses claim under the Parliamentary Standards Act 2009 (provision of information
they know to be false or misleading in a material respect in support of a claim for
allowances).

Pack Page 42



What is your view on whether the upholding of a complaint about misuse of expenses or
allowances (i.e. a breach of Rule 9 of the Code of Conduct) should potentially trigger a recall
process?

| |Abreach of Rule 9 should automatically trigger a recall process

|__|Abreach of Rule 9 should not result in a recall process

Triggering a recall process should be an option available to the Standards of Conduct
Committee to recommend if a complaint about a breach of Rule 9 is upheld.

| | Don't have a view

Please outline your reasons for your answer (we would be grateful if you could keep your
answer to around 500 words)

4. At the moment there are no sanctions if a Member leaves, joins or changes political group
during a Senedd term.

What is your view on whether changing political groups should trigger recall processes (i.e.
moving from party group A to party group B within a Senedd term, or moving from party

group A to sit as an independent)?

Please outline your reasons for your answer (we would be grateful if you could keep your
answer to around 500 words)

5. At the moment there is no sanction if a Member does not attend or participate in Senedd
proceedings without a good reason for an extended period.

What is your view on whether a lack of attendance and participation in proceedings without
good reason for a period of six months or more trigger recall procedures?

Please outline your reasons for your answer (we would be grateful if you could keep your
answer to around 500 words)

Pack Page 43



6. At present, Members of the Senedd who are convicted of a criminal offence and
sentenced to a period of imprisonment or detention of 12 months or more are disqualified
from being Members or candidates. In the House of Commmons recall system, an MP will be
subject to recall if they have, after becoming an MP, been convicted of an offence and
sentenced to be imprisoned or detained for a period of less than 12 months (including
suspended sentences).

What is your view on whether a Member of the Senedd convicted of a criminal offence with
a sentence of less than 12 months should be subject to a recall petition?

Please outline your reasons for your answer (we would be grateful if you could keep your
answer to around 500 words)

7. Should there be any other triggers for a recall process? (We would be grateful if you could
keep your answer to around 500 words)

Signing a petition

8. In the House of Commmons system, eligible voters only sign the petition if they are in favour
of recalling the MP. This means that there is no option for voters to show support for the MP
to remain in post and that, when entering a polling station, their intention to sign the
petition is known to others.

Should the recall petition provide an option for showing support for the recalled Member to
retain their seat?

|Yes

|No

|| Don't have a view

Please outline your reasons for your answer (we would be grateful if you could keep your
answer to around 500 words)

9. In the House of Commmons system, if 10 per cent of eligible electors sign a recall petition,
there will be a by-election in that constituency and the outgoing MP may contest that

Pack Page 44



election if they wish to. The Senedd Commissioner for Standards has highlighted that if the
threshold was set at the same level for a Senedd recall process, 10 per cent of the electorate
could directly remove a Member, as there is no provision to replace Members of the Senedd
through by-elections.

What are your views on the threshold of signatures that should be required in order for a

petition to remove a Member? (we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to
around 500 words)

10. In the House of Commons system, eligible voters may sign a recall petition in person at a
designated signing place, by post, or by appointing someone as a proxy to sign the petition
on their behalf.

What are your views on how an eligible voter should electors be able to sign a petition?
(please select all options that you think should be available to voters)

|__|In person
| |By post

By proxy

Other (please specify)
|| Don't have a view

Please outline your reasons for your answer (we would be grateful if you could keep your
answer to around 500 words)

Length of the recall process

1. In the House of Commmons system, electors have six weeks to sign a recall petition.
Evidence suggests that the majority of people who have signed recall petitions do so early in
the six-week period. Concerns have been raised about the practicalities of providing

designated signing places for a six week period.

Should a recall petition be open on a single day, across a greater number of designated
areas, or over a multi-week signing period in fewer areas?

| |Asingle day across a greater number of designated areas

Pack Page 45



_|Amulti-week signing period in fewer areas
Other (please specify)

| Don't have a view

If the petition should be open for a multi-week signing period, how long it should be open
for? (we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

12. Are there any other issues that you would like to raise regarding how constituents can
access or participate in the process? (we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to
around 500 words)

A system for Wales

Early work by the Committee has identified two initial options for consideration:

Option T: A recall petition is run asking only whether the Member should be recalled. In the

event a Member is recalled, the next eligible and willing candidate from the party’'s list on which
the removed Member was elected would fill the vacant seat. This approach means that signing
the petition would remove the Member, rather than result in a by-election in that constituency.

Option 2: A retain or remove and replace petition is run, asking whether the Member should
remain in place, or be removed and replaced (if possible) with the next candidate on the party’s
list. This would be subject to a campaign period, allowing the Member subject to the ‘recall’
process an opportunity to defend their position with the electorate.

With either option, vacancies could be filled quickly and the proportionality of the last election
result could be maintained. However, Members elected as independents, or those elected to
represent political parties that have no remaining candidates on their lists, would not be
replaced. This could affect the proportionality of the Senedd.

13. What are your views on these two options (we would be grateful if you could keep your
answer to around 500 words)

14. Is there an alternative system which could be explored? (we would be grateful if you
could keep your answer to around 500 words)

Pack Page 46



Disqualification

A person must meet certain qualifications to be eligible to be a Member or stand for election to
the Senedd. These are set out in section 16 and Schedule 1A to the Government of Wales Act
2006, and include criteria such as age, citizenship, not being registered on an electoral register
in Wales, bankruptcy status, certain criminal convictions or sentences, membership of other UK
legislatures, and holding of certain offices.

15. A Member is disqualified from being a Member of the Senedd if, after being elected, they
are convicted of a criminal offence and sentenced to imprisonment or detention for 12
months or more. We have heard some suggestions that this should be reduced, for
example, to six months.

What are your views on the length of prison sentence that should trigger disqualification?
(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

16. Other than deception, which is dealt with in the next section, are there any other grounds
which should result in disqualification fromm membership of the Senedd? (we would be
grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

Making of False or Deceptive Statements of Fact by Members and Candidates

The Code of Conduct already requires Members to be truthful and act truthfully. However,
the Committee has heard suggestions that Members and candidates should be disqualified
if they wilfully make false or deceptive statements with the intent to mislead.

Early work by the Committee has identified three initial options for consideration. More
detail on these options is set out in the consultation document [insert link]:

Option 1: Create a criminal offence of deception, which would be investigated by the police
and tried before the criminal courts. People convicted would be disqualified.

Option 2: Create a civil offence of deception, which would be investigated by an existing
investigative body such as the Public Services Ombudsman and an independent Welsh
Tribunal, such as the Adjudication Board for Wales.

Option 3: Amend the existing Code of Conduct to more explicitly prohibit wilful lying or
deception and strengthen the potential sanctions. Alleged breaches would be investigated
by the Senedd Commissioner for Standards, and, if upheld, referred to the Standards of
Conduct Committee and Senedd. Extending this option to cover candidates as well as
Memlbers could give rise to significant practical implications.

Pack Page 47



17. What are your views on whether making of false or deceptive statements by Members of
the Senedd or candidates to become Members should be grounds for disqualification?

| |Grounds for disqualification for Members only

Grounds for disqualification for candidates only

Grounds for disqualification for Members and candidates

|| Not groundss for disqualification

| |Don't have a view

Please outline your reasons for your answer. If you have indicated that candidates should be
included, please indicate at what point you think candidates should be subject to potential
liability (we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words).

o First, we should make clear that we confine ourselves to any false or deceptive
statements’ (see later notes on these terms) that are made in electoral advertising.
The case for such material to be in scope has been separately made in the context
of the Elections and Elected Bodies Bill (now Act), which requires the creation of a
voter information platform that can host candidate and voter information for
Senedd and ordinary principal council elections.” Chapter 4, Section 27 of the Act
requires that Welsh Ministers must provide for the platform’s establishment and
operation ‘by regulations, we therefore assume that the scope and structure of the
platform remains subject to input from various parties, ourselves included, we trust.

e The reason we do not consider such transgression as has been outlined to be
groundss for disqua lification (of members; nor should there be serious jeopardy for
candidates) is that we regard such a penalty as too severe in this context and not
aligned with the sanctions that are generally deployed in the case of breach of
regulations in commercial aadvertising. (For perspective, electoral advertising is
unregulated: The U.K. Advertising Standards Authority (ASA) statement, in the
context of standing itself down, referenced an October 2013 Report of the All-Party
Parliamentary Inquiry Into electoral conduct, which covers the issue of political
advertising requlation under Section 4, points 78-83. The Report refers to the work in
this context of The Committee for Standards in Public Life (The Neill Committee,
sister organisation, we suppose, to that which we write) which recommended that
the political parties seek to agree a code of best practice in partnership with the
advertising industry to apply to the non-broadcast media. in their response to the
Committee, the government .. stated its intention to explore whether existing or ad
hoc bodlies could oversee such a process and offered to broker cross-party
agreement. There appears to have been no action taken.’)

Pack Page 48



e /fwe may labour the point above: there is tacit approval’ by the Neill Committee of
the self-requlatory process we have been advocating for some five years: that a
simple aadvertising code (our own version, signed by several political leaders, is
separately supplied) is agreed by political parties and in this case informs the voter
information platform. The code would be administered as separately outlined in our
earlier submission and consistent with the House of Lords June 2020
recommendation.

e We address sanctions further under our answer to question 27.

18. If making of false or deceptive statements were to be grounds for disqualification, what
are your views on any risks that could arise (such as the potential for malicious complaints to
be made against Members), the effect of such risks, and how any such risks could be
mitigated? (we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

e There is potential for considera ble confusion when third parties or other
campaigners attribute views or statements in electoral advertising to opposing
parties or candidates. We anyway regard disqualification as inappropriate.

19. Section 42 of the Government of Wales Act 2006 provides that statements made during
Senedd proceedings are ‘absolutely privileged’ for the purposes of defamation. Section 43
provides that statements made during Senedd proceedings have limited protection from
legal action for contempt of court.

What are your views on whether any prohibition on the making of false or deceptive
statements of fact could have consequences for these ‘privileges™ (we would be grateful if
you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

e No view

20. Would introducing a criminal offence or a civil sanction system give rise to any human
rights issues, for example in relation to rights of freedom of expression (Article 10 of the
European Convention on Human Rights) and freedom to stand in an election (Article 3 of
Protocol No. 1to the ECHR - Right to free elections)? (we would be grateful if you could keep
your answer to around 500 words)

e There s, in our view, some considerable risk, attached either to criminal offence or to
a civil sanction system, that relates to freedom of expression. Though we are, as
earlfer clarified, confining ourselves to the less potentially sensitive territory of
advertising, it remains the case that great caution should be exercised that the right
of freedom of expression is not infringed. Article 10 of the ECHR includes freedom to

Pack Page 49



hold opinions and to receive and impart information (emphasis ours) and ideas
without interference by public authority and regardless of frontiers.”

In that context, we venture to suggest that the terms deployed in this consultation,
variously expressed as ‘false or deceptive statements with the intent to mislead” and
“making of false or deceptive staternents of fact” might themselves be subject to
review as they may be insufficiently precise, for two principal reasons: i) a statement’
may not necessarily be factual, but may be an opinion, vis: ‘the opposing candidate
in this election does not understand this community’. The subject of that claim may
regard it as a false or deceptive statement with the intent to mislead’ when it is an
opinion to which the candidate concerned may well be entitled, 2) the term false or
deceptive statements of fact’is also difficult for those of us sensitive to the
exploitation or interpretation of such terms: how can a statement of fact be false or
deceptive? Use of the plural may also be unhelpful. We deploy different language in
our own work, which we would be happy to share with the committee, but we feel
we may already be well beyond our scope or perceived entitlerment to further
comment.

It seemns to ourselves to be crucial, therefore, not only that requlation is applied for
highly focused and very specific forms of factual transgression, but that it is
simultaneously made clear that there is no intrusion on the lawful (there are already
statutory restrictions on free speech) expression of political opinion. For information,
this balance is very well found in the requlation of electoral advertising in New
Zealand, where the NZ ASA's guidance has applied with the support of all political
parties for several decades.

21. What are your overall views on the three options outlined above (more detailed questions
on specific issues are set out below)? Are there any other options that would be more
appropriate or effective? (we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500

words)

It is our view, based on many years of close association with a highly successtful self-
regulatory system in the commercial world, that in the case of electoral advertising,
solutions need be neither complex nor draconian, but simply in line with those
proposed in the House of Lords Committee recommendations we referenced earlier.
Such solutions should be in the responsible hands of those members who
understand that change simply must happen, but not at the expense of free
political debate.

24. Should making a false or deceptive statement of fact be made a crime or be made
subject to civil sanctions?

Pack Page 50



| |Crime
|| Civil sanctions

| |Don't have a view

Please outline your reasons for your answer (we would be grateful if you could keep your
answer to around 500 words)

o We have taken the definition of civil sanctions from the Wales Government paper
here as ‘a penalty for non-compliance with the requirerments of legisiation.’ As those
requirements are as yet unclear (for an aavertising context), and anyway we prefer,
per above, to avoid the draconian, then in general our answer to the question is
those civil sanctions that are commensurate with the activity and its transgression,
which would indicate the likes of Stop and Compliance notices. These would be
consistent with the type of enforcement actions taken by the ASA.

e Forfurther perspective, sanctions that apply in the case of commercial advertising
are broadly described as ‘'name and shame.” When ASA rulings are made against
aavertisers, these are widely reported by the print media. There are other, more
severe implications: the banning of an aavertising execution may mean the loss of
many thousands and in some cases hundreds of thousands of pounds in
production. In the case of much electoral advertising, however, costs would be far
less significant,

25. What are your views on the nature of an independent judicial process that should be
used if option 2 were pursued (i.e. a civil sanction investigated by an existing investigative
body such as the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales or an independent Welsh
Tribunal)? (we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

e The process for civil sanction’in an electoral advertising context would be that
outlined by the House of Lords Committee that we have referenced earlier and that
which is also mentioned (above) by The Committee for Standards in Public Life, i.e.
the agreement between members of a simple advertising code.

26. If the making false or deceptive statements is made subject to a civil sanction, what
standard of proof would be most appropriate - the civil standard (i.e. “on the balance of
probabilities”) or the criminal standard (i.e. “beyond reasonable doubt”)? Although not
common, there have been instances where professional disciplinary bodies have operated
to the criminal standard.

|| Civil standard

Pack Page 51



| |Criminal standard

|__|Don't have a view

25. If option 3 were pursued (i.e. strengthening the existing Code of Conduct and sanctions)
what are your views on the measures and mechanisms that could address the issue of
deception or false statements? For example, through existing standards procedures or
potential recall mechanisms. (we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around
500 words)

o We believe we have addressed this question in earlier replies above

26. If a disqualification is introduced, what length of disqualification would be appropriate?
For example, should there be a fixed period of disqualification, or a period (within a set
range) to be determined on a case-by-case basis so that any mitigating circumstances that
could reduce the period of disqualification are taken into consideration? (we would be
grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

e Noview

27. What sanctions other than disqualification might be an appropriate penalty for the
making of false or deceptive statements of fact? (we would be grateful if you could keep
your answer to around 500 words)

o We believe we have addressed this question in earlier replies above (Q.24)

28. What defences should be available to an allegation of deception? (we would be grateful
if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

e The question refers specifically to ‘deception’ versus a false or deceptive etc. In any
event, in an electoral advertising context, the advertiser (be it the member,
candidate or, most likely, agent) of course has the right to make his/ her/ their case
to the bodly concerned, either remotely or in person. In other words, the same
defence as is available to commercial advertisers.

29. Please outline any views you have on the interaction between proceedings for making
false or deceptive statements (whether it is civil or criminal) with the rules set out in the

Pack Page 52



Senedd Members' Code of Conduct which already require Members to always act truthfully.
(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

o /tisourview, having had some experience of the way in which some authorities
apply the Codes of Conduct (variously based on the CSPL code), that it is not so
much the interaction between any anticipated proceedings and the Senedd
Members’ Code of Conduct, but the effectiveness of the application of the latter. The
code itself seems to ourselves to be clear, comprehensive and actionable. The
behaviour of some members leads one (and most of the population) to conclude
that they do not appear even to be aware of its existence, let alone respect and
observe It.

e /n an electoral advertising context, furthermore, we suggest it is fair to say that while
the code is admirable in principle, as the CSPL has earlier indicated, it will require
more specific measures to be introduced, though ‘truthfulness’is very much part of
what we hope will become a legal, decent, honest and truthful future for electoral
communications in Wales.

30. Please outline any views you have on the resource implications for existing bodies or
bodies that might be created to investigate and decide complaints of false or deceptive
statements of fact. (we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500
words)

o Weanticipate, if proposals in line with our own and the House of Lords Committee’s
recommendadations are adopted, that resource —or a panel of experts’ - will be drawn
from existing bodies such as the ASA, the UKSA and the Electoral Commission.

e /nline with the existing self-regulatory system in commercial aadvertising, a levy on
aadvertising cost (to be agreed between parties) would be applied to all electoral ad
spend. The commercial levy is 0.1%

Sanction of removal of a Member

If a complaint against a Member of the Senedd is upheld, the Committee may recommend
one or more sanctions as set out in Standing Orders. These include exclusion from Senedd
proceedings for a specified period and/or the withdrawal of certain rights and privileges. The
Committee cannot currently recommend the removal of a Member.

The Senedd must debate any reports published by the Committee, and decide whether to
give effect to any recommended sanctions. At present, such decisions are taken by simple
majority.

Pack Page 53



31. Should the Committee have the power to recommend sanctions of disqualification or
recall of a Member of the Senedd? (we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to
around 500 words)

e Noview

32. Are there any other sanctions that should be available to the Committee? (we would be
grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

o We believe we have addressed this question in earlier replies above

Pack Page 54



5. Future Inquiries

If you would like to be kept informed of any of the following topics via email, please tick the
following that apply:

Standard list of Topic Titles then follows as option boxes for users to select as many as
appropriate

Pack Page 55



6. Thank you message

Thank you for taking the time to respond. Your response was submitted.

For more information about the work of the Standards of Conduct Committee
see: https;//senedd.wales/SeneddXYZ

We are monitoring the diversity of committee evidence to help us understand if
this is happening, and what the barriers to participation might be. We invite you
to fill in this short, anonymous diversity monitoring form. It should take no more
than around five minutes.

https://senedd.wales/DiversityMonitoringForm

Pack Page 56



Introduction and context

This note represents Reform Political Advertising’s submission to the Local Government and
Housing Committee in the context of the Stage 1 scrutiny of the general principles of the
Elections and Elected Bodies (Wales) Bill.

Reform Political Advertising

As our name implies, we are focused on a particular aspect of electoral behaviour: we
campaign for factual accuracy in electoral advertising, a position that is supported by nine
out of ten voters in Wales; we propose a regulatory solution that we will go on to show is
relatively straightforward and eminently manageabile.

We are a small non-profit and politically neutral organisation founded by two people from the
advertising industry - Alex Tait and Benedict Pringle. We have some seven thousand five
hundred followers on Platform X, formerly Twitter; recent posts have been viewed more than
one hundred thousand times. Chair of our Electoral Advertising Review Panel is Lord David
Puttnam.

Our aims are supported by a few political parties, the Green party among them, and we are
known to some senior politicians and cross-party groups such as the Compassion in Politics
APPG. We have also exchanged with Liz Saville-Roberts. While we remain in discussion at
those senior levels, we have yet to secure the formal agreement to our proposals of either of
the two main political parties in Westminster; and the General Election looms.

We know that the issue of accuracy in electoral advertising is important to voters: our 2019
YouGov research found that 87% of UK voters thought that ‘it should be a legal requirement
that factual claims in political advertising must be accurate.” (Data for Wales showed the
same finding). Electoral Commission (EC) Public Opinion Tracker research 2022 found ‘just
under half of people (46%) say they think political campaigning online is untrue or
misleading.” (We don’t have access to data for Wales). Additionally, the EC’s report on the
2019 General Election found: ‘Voters raised concerns directly with us and other regulators
about both printed and digital material that some campaigners were using at the election.
They were concerned about the presentation, labelling or layout of campaign material that
they thought was misleading, and also about the messaging and content of some
campaigns.

You can find out more about us here; in particular, our reviews of electoral advertising across
various elections and by-elections can be found here. Some examples from Wales can be
found under p.11 of our May 2021 review of local, mayoral, Scottish and Welsh
parliamentary elections.

Political communications in 2023

Veracity in political communication has - at almost this precise point in time - reached an
absolutely critical stage. While recognition that the status quo is unacceptable has anyway
been building (amongst both politicians and voters), the arrival of three relatively recent
influences brings us to this ‘tipping point’. Those are:

1. In June of 2020, a House of Lords cross party committee, to which we gave evidence,
unanimously recommended that political advertising should be regulated in its factual
content. The government rejected the proposal, largely on the grounds that it would have
‘a chilling effect on free speech'. This despite the proposed regulation being specifically
confined to factual accuracy of content.

2. Al. Arguably, the hottest political communication issue of this decade and certainly the
hottest of the next. Open Al CEO Sam Altman has urged regulation for electoral
disinformation, saying "it is one of my areas of greatest concern" and Professor

Pack Page 57 1



Wooldridge, director at the UK’s Alan Turing Institute, said Al-powered disinformation
was his main concern about the technology “Right now ... it is number one on the list."

While the Bletchley summit laid some important ground, it didn’t - and didn’t plan to -
deal with more urgent and shorter-term matters and there is no evidence that there will
be any attention paid to electoral disinformation prior to the next General Election. The
Online Safety Act, for example, does not deal with misinformation, and political
advertising is specifically exempt from the DCMS Online Advertising Programme. This
government has a sorry record for integrity in this and other contexts and it looks like it
will stay that way.

Other administrations are dealing with the issues we have set out above. On 7t
November, i.e. just three days ago at the time of writing, the European Commission
‘welcomed the political agreement reached between the European Parliament and the
Council on the Regulation on transparency of political advertising.” Under these new
rules, political adverts will need to be clearly labelled and the use of sensitive personal
data will be banned. All online political ads will be available in an online ad repository.
Sponsoring ads from outside the EU will be prohibited three months before elections.
More here.

On Al specifically, the EU’s Artificial Intelligence Act is expected to be finalised by early
next year; the G7 group of countries has (very recently) published The International
Guiding Principles on Atrtificial Intelligence, which include: ‘Develop and deploy reliable
content authentication and provenance mechanisms, where technically feasible, such as
watermarking or other techniques to enable users to identify Al-generated content.” On
29 March 2023, the UK government published its white paper a pro-innovation approach
to Al requlation, the UK’s proposed regulatory framework for Al. In the US, President
Biden on October 20, 2023 signed an Executive Order on the ‘Safe, Secure, and
Trustworthy Development and Use of Atrtificial Intelligence.’

Our crucial point is that this Elections and Elected Bodies (Wales) Bill represents
probably the last chance before the General Election to address the coming together of
Al technology with the long and regrettable tradition of misinformation in electoral
advertising. This collision of malign forces will pose unprecedented problems for voters,
unless addressed with some technical innovation, some advertising insight and, above
all, with some urgency. We set out solutions below.

Specific proposals

e Much of the Terms of Reference are relatively broad and beyond our remit, though
we would point to ‘any potential barriers to the implementation of the Bill's
provisions’, when the Bill will ‘Create a requirement for a voter information platform
that can host candidate and voter information for Senedd and ordinary principal
council elections.’

e So, itis this particular aspect of the Bill that we address. The ‘voter information
platform’ should carry the requirement that parties and candidates’ and third parties’
paid and unpaid publicity material is included and authenticated under a separate but
connected ‘Register of Political Advertising.’

e Such advertising should also be subject to a simple code of conduct to be agreed by
all political parties. Such a code (we have drafted a version for discussion) will
address only factual claims and proper identification processes. (In the context of the
latter, requirements of the Elections Act 2022 and the Representation of the People
Act 1983 for digital and ‘hard copy’ material respectively should be amended - as part
of the code - to require identification of the political party as well as candidate and
promoter. This is a bizarre or convenient loophole which has been exploited on a
number of occasions).

Pack Page 58 2



¢ Administration of the code should be the remit of an Electoral Advertising Review
Panel’ or similar, to be staffed by a ‘panel of experts’ (from the House of Lords
recommendation referenced earlier) which might include, for example,
representatives from Ofcom, the ASA and of course The Commission.

¢ In the course of the 2022 local elections, we piloted a process that was able to
identify and rule on advertising within 24 hours. In light of progress in Al in particular,
we foresee a system whereby advertising that reaches the relatively few channels in
which it appears and from relatively few sources might be ‘Al checked’ for accuracy
and, if necessary, blocked from appearing or at least providing an immediate alert
system for the administrators. This kind of technological inspection of advertising has
been pioneered by the ASA in a number of regulation-sensitive sectors.

¢ In the event that proposals outlined above have some traction in the context of the
Bill, we would like to bring forward additional advertiser certification systems that we
believe will also provide important reassurance to voters, most of whom will be
exceptionally cautious in the face of dire Al warnings and an already well-established
cynicism towards political advertising.

Conclusion

It's time, in fact well beyond time, to clean up the electoral advertising ‘act.” We have shown
that voters are deeply disappointed and cynical as a result of the morass of misleading
political communications, grown steadily worse over the past few years in an environment in
which leadership almost seemed to encourage distortion or obfuscation. This Bill represents
a very important opportunity to address these failings and to do so in an innovative and
professional manner. It may not be the first such system in the world (a number of
administrations outside the U.K. have some regulation of political advertising) but if
proposals above or close to them are to be followed, it will be the best.

RPA 10" November, 2023

Pack Page 59 3



In our advertising we will:

. Make every effort not to mislead voters

. Ensure that factual claims are accurate

. Hold relevant, reliable evidence for claims

. Acknowledge any mistake & issue correction
. Inform audiences when using generative Al

Pack Page 60



CongRrES®

To the Clerk of the Committee.

Dear Sir or Madam,

| am writing as a four time Democratic Nominee for Congress (Kentucky
KY-02) regarding the Senedd’s commitment to ban political deception. We
are the home of Fort Knox, the Corvette, Bluegrass and Bourbon, and
Abraham Lincoln's birthplace. This district is a deep Republican district,
Kentucky was the first state to be called for Trump in the recent election. |
am unlikely to be elected, my purpose is less about winning a seat and
more about reconnecting with working class and rural voters, and to
hopefully influence my party to do the same.

As a federal candidate since 2018 | have experienced the repercussions of
political deception. So firstly, congratulations and thank you for your work.
Reform of this kind is not easy and I'll continue watching with admiration.

| hope some of my observations will be helpful.

Political deception is not limited to one party or news organization. We
Democrats are very aware of and concerned about the deception of
Republicans and Fox News, but we seem to sail over deceptions
committed by our own party and MSNBC. The Hunter Biden laptop story is
an example of this - for months we were told it was a fake, a Russian plant
- by the time the truth came to the surface we had moved on.

The costs are high, the effects are widespread and difficult to counter. For

example, after this election it is Democrats who are concerned about the
validity of the voting process. Deception encourages ever deeper divisions,

Pack Page 61



it justifies our team's abuses by pointing out how much worse the other
team's actions are.

And lies ultimately lead to violence and social breakdown. The events of
January 6th and the recent riots in the UK are visible examples, but there
are many other examples at the grassroots level. Here in my district,
political signs were routinely stolen from private property, this is a federal
offense although none were prosecuted. So, there is much at stake.

| support the idea that politicians should be held to their words, that
intentionally deceiving the public should be punishable, adjudicated by an
independent judiciary.

In the US | suspect a public pledge would be a good first step. That is, sign
up politicians willing to publicly say, | will aim to disagree accurately, | will
not intentionally deceive, | will back up my statements when needed, | will
retract my statements when | am mistaken. One appeal of this approach is
that it is positive rather than punitive, and it encourages discourse. | am
part of Braver Angels, the largest organization in the US dedicated to
healing division between liberals and conservatives, | will discuss the idea
with them.

Public trust in government, candidates and office holders is indeed at an all
time low, | agree that candidates and officeholders should be held
responsible for their words - giving an accused politician the choice to
clarify, correct or retract or defend in court will re-build public trust.

Again, congratulations on your pioneering path.

Best...H

Hank Linderman

Pack Page 62



	Agenda
	2 Inquiry into Individual Member Accountability: Evidence Session 17
	5 Papers to note
	Consultation response - Reform Political Advertising
	Written Submission - Hank Linderman




